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SENATOR SHEILA KUEHL:  I’m Senator Sheila Kuehl, and I am, of course, on the Health and Human Services Committee.  This hearing is being conducted under the auspices of the Health and Human Services Committee, but Senator Ortiz deeply regrets not being able to chair this hearing which she has worked so hard to set up.  She’s had a death in the family and, of course, is quite appropriately at the memorial service right now.


First of all, may I ask everyone to turn off all your cell phones and pagers, please, or else to put them on stun.  [Laughter.]  Anyone whose phone rings during this hearing, especially up here where the panel is, will be asked to leave the room.  I think that it’s only fair that we not keep disturbing any of our hearings, and I know that you can do that.


While I wait for the appearance of our first panel, I’d like to make a brief opening statement on behalf of Senator Ortiz to brief you a little bit -- many of you probably already know because you’re so aware of the issue -- but to brief any people here -- staff, press, etc. -- about this issue.


I appreciate, certainly Senator Ortiz appreciates, all the time and effort that all of you here have devoted to the issue of molds, the health effects, and current institutional responses.  Your participation at the hearing, the witnesses, will certainly contribute to the development of a better public policy.  By sharing your expertise and your experience, we hope to provide broadly the necessary information to craft appropriate and effective public policy.


The purpose of the hearing today is to explore two specific questions.  First of all, what exactly are the health effects of exposure to this mold?  And secondly, does our system adequately protect the public health in the face of this threat?


There are an increasing number of Californians facing problems related to mold growth.  Homeowners, renters, workers, various industries, and our public health system are struggling to address how to deal with these molds, how to even know what the causes of the health effects are, and once discovered, what to do about the molds and what to do for what they’ve suffered in terms of health effects.


Our courts are seeing more and more cases concerning the growth of mold in homes, in apartments, and in the workplace.  And all of this activity is happening in a complete absence, a vacuum, of state law, of federal law, of any regulations or even any guidelines.  Many people are confronting this issue, but few understand in the public, and certainly among policymakers, how this exposure affects our health.


Mold contamination and the absence of any systemic response to the problem of mold contamination leads us to the necessity of addressing the question:  How should society, how should the government address this threat when we don’t even adequately understand it?  It has been hardly researched, and it has serious, but currently undefined, consequences.


The public system which is intended to protect us has not been able to keep up with the variety of environmental threats present in our state.  As public officials, and I say this, of course, on behalf of Senator Ortiz and my colleagues, including Senator Figueroa who’s joined us, it’s our responsibility to protect the public health.  And our challenge is to figure out what system is going to work about this problem.


So we’re here today to consider the issue of mold, particularly in homes, the health effects, the adequacy of the system, and addressing the emerging public health issue.


With us today you’ll see an impressive array of health experts, government officials, industry representatives, and experts on mold, and their presentations, we hope, will enhance our knowledge of this issue.


The hearing is simply to provide a foundation for crafting appropriate public policy, so we’ve structured the hearing to answer the questions in the following order.

· First of all, what are these molds?

· Secondly, what are their health effects?

· Thirdly, how can we identify them and remediate them?

· And fourthly, how adequate is the current system for responding to mold contamination and how can it be improved?


As you can see from the agenda, and I hope you have a copy of it -- if not, I’ll try to keep going as traffic manager here -- the first panel will present us with a background on molds, their pervasiveness, their health effects, and current efforts to address the emerging public health threat.


The second panel will speak to the issue of “Molds and Their Human Health Implications.”  They’ll provide us with an overview of research to date on the health effects of molds, individual experiences with these molds, and any areas remaining, and there are plenty, of unanswered questions.


The third panel explores the “Adequacy of Current Institutional Responses to Molds” from several different perspectives.


The witnesses will conclude with a discussion of possible mechanisms for addressing molds and an analysis of issues we can foresee in working in the area.


I would hope to move this hearing along so that Members present can ask questions so that we can finish, I would hope, a little bit after twelve, since both Senator Figueroa and I have been asked to attend a caucus meeting on one of those other pressing issues.  So, I would ask the witnesses to please limit your testimony to six, or at the most seven, minutes or less to allow time for questions and discussion.


Did I hear a phone?  Oh good, it’s the Sergeant.  [Laughter.]  I ain’t deaf yet.


Let me introduce my colleague, Senator Figueroa, and invite you to make any statement if you wish.


SENATOR LIZ FIGUEROA:  Thank you for holding this hearing and inviting me.  I look forward to hearing the presentation.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you.


All right then, let me ask the first panel to come forward:  Ms. Brockovich, Mr. Robertson, Ms. McNeel, and Ms. Spark.


Welcome.  Take any chair.  All the mikes work, we hope.


Thank you so much for doing this.  Senator Ortiz is also extremely appreciative that you would take time to address us this morning.


Ms. Brockovich, let us start with you, if you don’t mind, and your statement.


MS. ERIN BROCKOVICH:  Okay.


SENATOR KUEHL:  And also, just for the record, as you begin speaking, if you would each say who you are and if you represent any particular organization or a part of the issue.


MS. BROCKOVICH:  Good morning.  My name is Erin Brockovich, and I guess I represent myself.


I said this earlier, and I want to say it to you again, I’m not here today because I’m looking for a new cause.  I wasn’t looking for mold, wasn’t thinking about mold.  Mold found me.


To give you a very long story in a very brief period of time, I’m going to start with Christmas of 1999.  It was a month or so before that specific day I had noticed an unusual fatigue that I could not get rid of.  I figured I was coming down with something.  I started having headaches, sinus pressure, sinus problems, ear problems.  Went to the doctor, was treated for a sinus infection.


By January I was still chronically fatigued.  I was still being treated by my doctor for sinus conditions, ear conditions, respiratory problems, closure of my eustachian tubes.  


By February of 2000, I was becoming increasingly concerned.  I still had fatigue.  I don’t know if people understand what fatigue means.  I’m not talking that I was tired.  I was talking the inability or the desire to get up, to function, to drive a car, to get the kids off to school, to go to work.  I wanted to sleep and sleep and sleep.


I remember this time very, very vividly because it was very close to the release of the movie date, and I was getting very concerned that I was not going to be able to fulfill my obligations to the film because I was so sick.


My sinuses had been throbbing.  My ears were closed off.  I was no longer able to fly.  By March, I was still sick.  I had a husband who was now coming down with fatigue, sinus, ears.  A little girl who was waking up in the middle of the night with an unusual croupy cough, watery eyes, complaining of her ears hurting, scratchy throat, unusual skin rash.


I had told my husband immediately after the release of the movie I was going to go see a specialist.  I was certain I had ovarian cancer.  I had a change in my menstrual cycling.  I had a bloating that I looked three months pregnant.  My family came out and they asked me what was wrong.  I was swelling by now, the hands, the face, the feet.


In April, my doctor, perplexed, not knowing what to do with me, sent me to a specialist:  the House Ear Clinic in Los Angeles.  They drew 17 tubes of blood, and they starting looking for, and just through process of elimination, trying to find out what was wrong with me.  My blood levels came back showing that I was currently responding and acting severely to molds, particularly Aspergillus and Penicillium.


I couldn’t spell or pronounce those two words, let alone even know what they meant, and I really didn’t pay a whole lot of mind to that, other than I went about my business.


One afternoon I was running through the house and my foot jammed into a floor board that was sticking up.  I have hardwood floors.  I thought, Well, that’s funny.  Why is the floor coming up?  Somebody must have spilt something.  At that point,  I began to put two and two together.  I thought, Well, wait a minute.  I have floors coming up.  Why?  The house has actually smelled musty.  Why?  Could there be a water problem?  And then I starting thinking, Well, water -- mold.  Mold in my blood.  What’s going on?  I’m sick.

So I called my insurance carrier.  They came out to my house and they did numerous reports.  They found numerous construction defects unbeknownst to me.  They weren’t going to cover me for anything.  They don’t cover water problems.  


I contacted a company to come out and start doing testing.  They did air tests, bulk samples, dust swipings.  They were extremely thorough.  I waited and waited for the test results to come back.  Some of the first results to come in were very high levels of Aspergillus and Penicillium in my return air duct system, which is exactly what my blood tests were showing that I was responding to.  We did further tests and found very high levels of Stachybotrys.  I think my first reaction was, Stachy what?  And how do you spell that?  I mean, come on.  


It was very difficult for me to even accept or understand what molds were, where they were, why I was sick.  It wasn’t tangible to me.  I couldn’t see them.  They were in the attic.  They were in my air conditioning returns.  They were in my walls.  They were hidden.  I had no idea anything was there, let alone trying to start and begin to understand that these molds were blowing in my air that I was breathing that was making me so sick.


Surprisingly enough, I contacted an attorney -- no offense there -- and they started working with me on how to resolve the situation.  I met with the builder and developer of my home and the prior owner.  I wanted to work something out.  My intentions were not to start a major litigation, rake everybody over the coals.  I wanted to fix my home.  I have $600,000 in repairs.  I do not have $600,000 sitting in the bank.  And I wanted help fixing my home.  It got me nothing more than a counter-lawsuit.


I think the reason that I’m here today is I just want to express to you the severity of what happens.  You lose your home.  You lose your health.  I have waited my whole life to have a home.  That has been the most important thing for me and my children.  I’ve done everything right:  I’ve worked hard.  I’ve paid my taxes.  I bought my home and I’m stuck.  I can’t sell my home.  I have to disclose.  I don’t have the money to fix it.


Yesterday, I was getting my hair done and a woman asked me about mold, because she’s heard me talking about my home, and she almost lost her four-month-old baby because of not disclosed to her Stachybotrys, Aspergillus, Penicillium, several other molds, in that home that almost killed her four-month.  They have abandoned their home.  


I hear the story too often.  It’s very personal to me, and it’s happening to me, and I think it’s such an irony for the very reason I did Hinkley.  People who were sick, people I believed in, people who had been lied to, people who lost their health and their home, and the same thing is happening to me.


So, I am here in support of whatever bills you can pass, measures you can do, to help people, to make sure that when they have a home, they have a safe home to live in.  


Thank you.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you very much.


Our next witness is Alex Robertson.


MR. ALEX ROBERTSON:  Thank you, Senator Kuehl.


I’d like to commend Senator Ortiz and you and the rest of the committee for taking up this issue, which I believe is a very serious public health crisis in the State of California.


California has the opportunity, by passing the Toxic Mold Protection Act, to become the first state in the country to actually enact some standardized regulations to try to help consumers deal with this problem.


I currently represent approximately 1,000 consumers in the State of California and across the country who are facing this problem.  And these cases, as we’ll find out from later witnesses, mold does not discriminate.  It crosses all socioeconomic lines.  Cases involve courthouses, schools, public buildings, homes, tenants, commercial business owners.  There’s not any spectrum of society that isn’t affected by this public health problem.


Currently, there are no governmental standards on the federal, state, or local level that will provide any redress or any enforcement mechanism to a California consumer who experiences the nightmare of toxic mold in their home, in their apartment, or in their workplace.  


There’s very good educational information which has been published by the Department of Health Services, or State Health Department, by the EPA, by the CDC.  But if someone discovers toxic mold in their workplace and they contact OSHA, they’re going to be told:  “We can’t come out and test for it.  We can’t come out and cite the employer because we don’t have jurisdiction.  There aren’t any published standards and guidelines for us to do any enforcement.”  


And that same answer is going to be told to a tenant who tries to contact the local Housing Authority.  They say, “We’ve got substandard housing conditions.  We’ve got black, slimy mold growing on the inside of our apartment due to water leaks or construction defects,” and the code enforcement officer is going to tell that tenant:  “I don’t have the jurisdiction or the power to come out and order a cleanup because toxic mold isn’t on the list of substandard housing right now.”  


A homeowner who purchases a brand new home and experiences construction defects due to chronic water leaks from a roof or leaking windows or leaking air conditioners or plumbing system, again, is not going to have any redress from any governmental agency unless this bill is passed because there is no standardized enforcement procedures.


Another problem that consumers face right now is there is no licensing or certification of those who hold themselves out as (quote/unquote) “mold experts.”  Persons that the public would hire to come out and perform testing or assessment or certify that the house is safe after cleanup’s been done.  Today, in the State of California, anyone can hold themselves out as an industrial hygienist.  There’s no governmental licensing or certification.  There’s industry certification, but it’s a voluntary compliance.


As I mentioned, OSHA has no published standards or guidelines to abate a microbial contamination problem in the workplace.  Because of this current vacuum that’s been created in the State of California -- the lack of governmental regulations -- consumers have been forced to litigate their claims in the court system.  I strongly believe, after personally handling literally thousands of these claims, that many of these consumers would not have to resort to the court system if there were standardized regulations and enforcement procedures in place so they could go to their local Housing Authority, the local building inspector, and get their mold problem taken care of at that level.  But because there’s no redress for those people right now, their only recourse is to file a lawsuit.


Let me just give you an example of some of the cases that I’m currently handling.  I think it will give you just a brief overview of how pervasive this problem is in the state.  I currently represent 250 courthouse workers who work in three contaminated county courthouses in the County of Tulare.  One third of the court staff for that county is currently off on disability which is dramatically affecting the ability of that county’s court system to handle criminal and civil matters.  The mold has grown as a result of leaking windows and leaking air conditioning systems.  


Because of a lack of standardized regulations or standards as to permissible exposure limits, the county safety officer and risk manager decided to create their own, I call, “Richter scale of mold,” on a scale of 1 to 10, and characterized in written publications to these employees that Aspergillus and Penicillium species were at Level 4, and were (quote/unquote) “common.”  


Again, bad information, misadvice, because there’s no standardized regulations out there to provide some type of baseline.


I represent the Spectrum Homeowners Association, a two hundred unit condominium complex in Santa Ana, California, that’s comprised of low-income Hispanic families.  First-time homebuyers.  Typically paid somewhere between $50,000 and $75,000 for their slice of the American Dream and now are stuck there, as Ms. Brockovich indicated, because they can’t sell these units; they have to disclose the problems.  The black mold growing in their condominiums looks like wall paper, it’s so pervasive.  Small children wake up with chronic nose bleeds on their T-shirts and bedclothes at night.  Respiratory distress.  The paramedics are constantly out there taking elderly and small children to the Emergency Room because they wake up in the middle of the night with respiratory distress.  They have allergic reactions, skin rashes, respiratory problems.  


Medical experts have recommended the entire complex of 1,500 low-income Hispanic occupants need to move out and evacuate from this complex.  We’ve contacted the local and state officials, trying to look for some help, and there’s no temporary housing to evacuate that large scale of a complex and get people out of there.  So they’re having to stay there while their case winds its way through the court system.


Deerpark Apartments here in Sacramento, I’m actually proud to be involved with.  To my knowledge, they were the first landlord in the State of California to step up to the plate, acknowledge that they had a toxic mold problem; they needed to clean it up for their tenants.  They got their tenants moved out so they could do a large-scale remediation.  But what they did differently than most is they went to the expense of spending a quarter of a million dollars to set up six decontamination chambers in the parking lot of this complex and, at the landlord’s expense, decontaminated their tenants’ furniture and personal belongings and gave them a stipend so they could move into other apartment complexes.  Unfortunately, now their insurance companies and builders have refused to reimburse them and they are forced to litigate this issue.


There’s an 85-unit senior housing complex in the San Fernando Valley in Sherman Oaks that provides low-income housing to elderly seniors.  Because of construction defects, the nonprofit corporation that owns and operates that complex is now facing having to move out over 100 seniors, most of them in their 70’s and 80’s, in the twilight years of their life, and force them to go through that nightmare of dislocating them because they have to go and abate this problem.


As you can see, mold doesn’t discriminate.  It affects homeowners, tenants, and commercial business owners.  I urge this committee to pass this Toxic Mold Protection Act to provide assistance to consumers in the State of California.


Thank you.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you very much.  And I appreciate also that you have not simply read a statement that you brought with you into the record.  If any of the witnesses has brought a written statement, I would really appreciate if you don’t simply read the statement but tell us in more or less your own words what’s in it, and then, of course, we will accept the written statement as the evidence from the hearing and happy to incorporate it in the record.  But it’s easier for us, and actually more interesting for those of us who have to listen all morning, if you would engage with us and just tell us what it is your statement is.  So that’s for all the witnesses and all the panels.  


As you can see, I don’t want to be too interfering.  I’ll simply indicate when the six-and-a-half or seven minutes are up and ask you to conclude.  I really appreciate it.


Our next witness is Sandy McNeel, from the Department of Health Services.


DR. SANDY McNEEL:  My name is Sandy McNeel.  I’m a research scientist with the Environmental Health Investigations Branch of the California Department of Health Services.


I have a Doctor of Veterinary Medicine degree from the University of California at Davis and eight years of experience in working with environmental health.  Now, during this time, one of my primary responsibilities has been evaluating the health effects of indoor molds and responding to inquiries on this topic.  I appreciate the opportunity to share with you some of our experiences.


The Department of Health Services staff have been involved in both indoor mold related research and public outreach activities that have escalated rapidly in the last five to ten years.  Some of our activities include:

· Consulting with local health districts and local public and environmental health departments in addressing the problems of mold in schools and dwellings.  

· The production of a fact sheet called “Mold in My Home:  What Do I Do?” that has been widely distributed to the public by both state and local health agencies, available in both English and Spanish.  

· Analyzing the prevalence of fungi in buildings in the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Building Assessment Survey and Evaluation Study, and 

· Editing and co-authoring a major reference text, “Bioaerosols:  Assessment and Control” that provides guidance to environmental health professionals performing biological evaluations inside buildings.


Now, the Department staff includes nationally known microbiologists, mechanical engineers, physicians, epidemiologists, and research scientists working in this field.  Each year the Department responds to numerous calls for information, technical advice, and other kinds of assistance.  And we’ve identified several major themes from these contacts.  First, tenants with extensive mold growth who are having difficulty getting the problem corrected; officials requesting advice about mold problems in public buildings; homeowners with mold and moisture problems who are having difficulty working with insurance companies or contractors; and individuals or officials asking for information about standards for testing or remediation of mold contamination; and employees with unabated workplace mold problems.


Now, local jurisdictions have the authority to inspect and recommend appropriate remediation of buildings.  So the Department’s primary role is to provide city and county officials with the training and the technical assistance to allow them to try to keep up with this new and very rapidly developing field.


We also maintain two Internet web sites that provide information on indoor molds.


Now, having described some of the Department of Health Service activities in this area, I’ve also been asked to address two other topics this morning:  What molds are and why they grow indoors, and the human health effects associated with them.  These are both very complex topics, and in order to stay within my time limit this morning, I’m going to address only some of the most important points and then hope to be able to answer questions from the committee.


So, molds, along with yeasts and mushrooms, are part of the fungal kingdom and are found everywhere on earth.  Experts estimate that there’s somewhere between 70,000 and 100,000 different types or species of molds.  And this, in fact, is one of the difficulties in dealing with this problem is that mold is not a single entity like environmental lead or radon.  Molds and other fungi are necessary for recycling organic material needed for the growth of both animals and plants, and molds or the chemicals they produce are used to produce consumer items such as cheese and wine and salami, as well as drugs like penicillin and some of the newer antibiotics.  Molds are very adaptable and some mold species can grow on everything in our homes, including fabric, carpets, leather, wood, sheetrock, and insulation.


Now, I’d like to use the illustration to my left here to point up a couple of important definitions.  The visible part of the mold is the tangled, branching, horizontal material, as illustrated there.  Sometimes referred to as the “mycelium.”  In order to reproduce, molds develop the more vertical directed stocks containing many microscopic seeds, referred to as “spores,” and it’s the spores that, along with some of the other elements, carry the allergens and other chemicals that are produced during the growth phase of the mycelium.  Most of these spores are designed to be released into the air.


Mold spores are found everywhere, in both indoor and outdoor air, in soil, on leaves, and house dust, and outdoor mold growth produces airborne spores that routinely enter our home through open windows and doors.  In addition, spores or fragments of the mold growth from different types of mold can be found on the bottoms of our shoes.  And so, there are many different types of spores from mold that are found routinely indoors.  However, active mold growth or inactive mold colonies do not belong inside buildings.  Our homes and offices already contain the mold spores and the food sources that they need.  The only thing that’s required for mold growth then is water.  


Now, mold begins to grow when surfaces or materials in our buildings remain wet for longer than 48 to 72 hours.  And there are three general ways that moisture enters into buildings:  as liquid water through roof, window, or plumbing leaks, as moisture or water vapors seeping through intact walls due to poor rain water runoff drainage or porous concrete slab foundations on soil with a high water table, or prolonged high indoor humidity.  We produce water vapor inside our homes during cooking, laundering, and bathing, and in each area where those activities occur, exhaust fans should be used to provide needed ventilation when it’s too cold or rainy to open windows.


Molds produce adverse health impacts, depending on the type of mold involved, the chemical products that are produced, the amount and duration of a person’s exposure, and the susceptibility of the person exposed.  And the types of health effects tend to fall into four majority categories:  either irritation, allergy, infection, or toxicity.  


When molds are growing, they produce varying amounts and types of volatile organic compounds, or VOCs.  These can include ethanol, sulfur, or a means that can be detected by smell because their odor thresholds are low.  In contaminated buildings, mold-derived VOCs may occur in concentrations high enough to produce irritation of the nose and the respiratory tract, as well as the eyes.


Now, allergic reactions appear to be one of the most common responses to indoor mold exposure.  People with a genetic predisposition for producing an allergic response can develop symptoms when they inhale or have skin contact with the mold or the products to which they’ve become sensitive.  Allergic symptoms can range from mild transient eye, nose, or throat inflammation to chronic illnesses.  Studies have shown that 6 to 10 percent of the general population and 15 to 50 percent of allergic patients are sensitive to fungal allergens.  


The Institute of Medicine last year identified mold exposure as a cause of asthma exacerbation, although the evidence is still incomplete on whether mold exposure can initiate asthma development.


Infections due to indoor molds are rare.  However, people with severely compromised immune systems, such as organ transplant patients, those on cancer chemotherapy, and HIV/AIDS patients, are at a greater risk of infection.  However, even in susceptible people, most molds that grow indoors will not cause infections because they can’t grow at the elevated temperatures and the reduced oxygen levels that are found within the human body.  Aspergillus fumigatuz, a mold found both indoors and out, is an important cause of infection in immunosuppressed people.


In addition to irritant chemicals and allergens, some molds may also produce toxins.  Mycotoxins -- that is, toxins that are produced from fungi -- appear to give some molds a competitive advantage against other molds and bacteria.  While the health effects from ingesting mycotoxins in grain and other food materials have been well studied, our understanding of the effect from inhalation exposure to mycotoxin levels found in moldy homes and offices is still incomplete.  Laboratory basic research has shown that some mycotoxins have effects on the immune system as well as other body organs.  However, the absence of both tests to indicate personal exposure to specific mycotoxins and a method to conveniently identify and measure mycotoxins in indoor air or environmental materials has compromised scientists’ ability to examine the relationship between fungal exposure and exposure to fungal toxins and adverse health effects. 


So, in summary, although there are gaps in the scientific knowledge base, and many issues regarding indoor molds remain to be defined, there is sufficient medical basis to state that mold growth is a potential hazard and should not be allowed in indoor environments.


My colleagues at DHS and I look forward to working with you, our local health department partners, and other concerned citizens to address the adverse health effects of indoor mold growth.


Thank you for the opportunity to participate in this discussion.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Ms. McNeel, thank you very much.


Our final witness on this panel is Barbara Spark from the EPA.


MS. BARBARA SPARK:  Thank you, Senators Kuehl and Figueroa, for this opportunity.  I am Barbara Spark, Indoor Air Program Coordinator for the Region 9 office of the United States Environmental Protection Agency.  


I must say, out of my notes, that everything that Dr. McNeel just said we have had to explain over and over again to many, many people over the past eight years.  Until documents like “Mold in My Home:  What Do I Do?” were available from DHS, we underwent that process of education with every person, as witnesses here today, who had no way of finding these things out.  And we have witnessed firsthand the experience that they have had and tried to give witness to it on a larger scale, which has sometimes been a difficult thing to do in the absence of the kind of scientific measurement tools which were just referred to.  


So, this has been a very torturous path getting here today, but we can see that a great deal of momentum has grown on the mold issue.


EPA does not regulate indoor air pollution, and notwithstanding our limited resources and authorities, we’ve been very good at taking the best science, turning it into practical guidance programs, information pieces, and leveraging like crazy to get a lot done nationally and in the localities.


With regard to environmental health protection, the rubber really hits the road in the regions.  And as I’ve alluded to, it was through direct contact primarily with the people of California who are having mold problems that we were among the first government programs in the country to start saying to people, “This is something we’ve got to pay attention to,” because all these things that simply were not in the medical literature were being reported to us.


From the perspective of nine years with this program, I can tell you that whatever California decides to undertake in further addressing the mold problem, it is superbly equipped to do so, thanks to the exceptional breadth and depth of both technical knowledge and program understanding in the Department of Health Services, the Indoor Air Section, and the Environmental Health Investigations Branch, to which Dr. McNeel belongs.


Just for starters, I mentioned the “Mold in My Home” document.  We have distributed thousands of them.  We don’t leave home without it.


For today’s hearing on “Public Health Effects of Toxic Mold,” I’ve been asked to describe much more than we obviously have time for today, particularly with the little cuts here, but I’d like to say a few things about our key activities.  I was asked to address the adequacy of the existing infrastructure in addressing concerns about molds.  I think others, including the chair, have already addressed the problems there.


Really, to cut to the chase, there’s a lot of progress going on, but we’re stuck in a kind of “Catch-22,” and that is, no one has had the resources to assess the scope of the problem because we don’t know the scope of the problem.  And so, essentially it has been left to the newspapers and the attorneys and people kind of talking to each other to try to get a sense of how often things like this are happening.


But it’s clear that the existing infrastructure is not sufficient to meet the burgeoning needs of the public with regard to moisture:  the moisture mold problem in buildings.


Now, I did not say the needs of the public with regard to the toxic mold issue, because even if there were no toxic molds flourishing in buildings, health problems associated with molds indoors would still be a significant public health problem concern.  Our programmatic involvement with molds, in fact, comes through our concern for our country’s asthma epidemic.


And I will now definitely pass over information about the Children’s Health Act, but the Health and Human Services has been asked to report to Congress on what the federal government is doing on asthma, and EPA was brought into that process with the health agencies because it was judged that insufficient attention had been paid to environmental triggers, and we have been advocating for greater attention for environmental triggers, including mold, when overall asthma issues are addressed.


Last month, in collaboration with the Ad Council, we launched a national multi-media advertising campaign on asthma.  If you see a goldfish and a child saying, “Sometimes I feel like a fish out of water,” that’s our ad, and no goldfish were injured in making this commercial.  [Laughter.]


Our goal is to raise public awareness about asthma, focusing on controlling environmental triggers.  That’s our part of the puzzle as part of a comprehensive asthma management plan.  That has, unfortunately, not always been the case.  So the media campaign encourages people to dial 1-866-NO-ATTACKS or to visit the web 

site -- [http://www.]noattacks.org -- and the outreach materials or live information that they access through that route may constitute for many families the first information they’ve ever received about the potential importance of molds as asthma triggers and the importance of preventing and cleaning up mold contamination.


There’s a good reason why mold exposures have often been overlooked by researchers and the medical community.  Dr. McNeel just referred to it:  It’s just really darn hard to research.  We know a lot of stuff about dust mites and cat allergen.  Well, it is hundreds of times more difficult to research just because of the sheer number of organisms, and they’re not very cooperative about being measured and things like that, and we don’t have skin extracts to see if people have been exposed to them.  And then, when it comes to the mold toxin, it’s even more complicated, and we just don’t have all the tools we need yet.


But again, to protect the public health, it doesn’t matter whether potential toxin producing molds are present.  Buildings should be kept dry.  If mold grows, it should be removed, and that should be done carefully.


It was just a few years ago that the saying, “People should not live in moldy houses” was controversial.  We used to kind of have to slide that information to people out the back door.  We got it from Canada.  Slipped it through the border.  And it wasn’t long ago that leading experts were actually questioning the relevance of mold for asthma; and yet, we’ve heard that the Institute of Medicine report said that for sensitized asthmatics, molds could be an asthma trigger.


So, there is now clear consensus in this country that exposure to molds in buildings should be avoided -- toxic, not toxic.  Research is still needed and it is still going on here and abroad, but action can and should be taken right now to protect the public.


This consensus was reflected at a workshop about a year ago by the Environmental Law Institute, with our sponsorship.  There were representatives from twenty-four states and six cities and counties, HUD, CDC, and EPA, and mold was one of the biggest topics of discussion.  People right from the get-go wanted to talk about mold, and in breakout sessions in the plenary, patterns quickly emerged:  Mold is a major problem in most states; health departments know what the issues are; nobody has statutory authority; and nobody has the resources they need to address it.


But some places which have been very proactive, like Minnesota, have provided lessons that we can learn, which are:  We shouldn’t be quibbling about whether mold is a problem or which mold causes which health effect.  We do need to alert the public as to how to prevent mold growth and remediate problems.  And people should know how to build buildings which will stay dry and make sure that they’re actually built that way.


Concerns about indoor air in schools were also a big topic at this national conference, and we at EPA are very concerned about indoor air in schools, including molds.  Five years ago we came out with a Best Practices Manual called “IAQ [Indoor Air Quality] Tools for Schools,” and to help it get implemented, we’ve been working very closely with schools in California.  

We know that many California schools have already experienced major mold events and others are mold crises waiting to happen.  California schools are among the worst funded in the nation, and when budgets are cut, the first thing to go is maintenance and custodial work, and that was before the energy crisis.


So, schools currently do not receive funding for major repairs, but we now understand that condition of school buildings can be a health issue and not just cosmetic.  Schools need, in order to be asthma friendly environments and mold free, preventive maintenance.


There’s also a great need for solid guidance on mold cleanup for all kinds of buildings, and we’re happy to say that in two weeks or so, we will release “Mold Remediation in Schools and Commercial Buildings.”  Guidance also applicable to apartment complexes.  And to get it out quickly, we’re putting it right up first on our web site -- [http://www.]epa.gov/iaq -- and as soon as that’s done, we’re going to get to work on similar guidance for houses, which will essentially just be different because it’s single family dwellings, but most of the underlying principles are the same.


I’m also told that the Minnesota Department of Health is finalizing a document titled, “Recommended Best Practices for Mold Investigations in Minnesota Schools,” which can probably easily be modeled for use in areas which do not have guidelines.  We are in the process of having produced basic guidance for health professionals to assist them in recognizing and managing health problems related to indoor mold problems.


So, step by step, gaps are being filled.  Many challenges remain.  Even as I worked on this testimony, calls and e-mails from people were coming to my office, sometimes at eight o’clock at night, from people in dire straits with mold problems.  Clearly, there’s still a lot of work to be done.


Thank you.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you very much.  Panel, don’t leave quite yet.


Senator Figueroa, do you have any questions for the witnesses?


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Once you clean up the mold -- and I guess it’s for the physicians -- does it reoccur?  Does it have more of a tendency to reoccur, or is that that area that has to constantly be reexamined once it’s cleaned up?


DR. McNEEL:  I’ll take a crack at that one.


When there’s mold present in a building, it really requires a two-phase approach.  You need to physically remove the mold because of the concern that the health effects are not just associated with whether the mold is alive or dead.  So it doesn’t matter whether you kill it or not; it needs to be physically removed from whatever material it’s on.  And then, the water or moisture accumulation that allowed the mold to grow in the first place has to be corrected.  If the water source, if the moisture accumulation is not identified and taken care of, then the mold will always grow back.  


And so, it is a major two-prong approach, but probably the most important for the long term is making sure that the water accumulation or intrusion source is identified.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Thank you.


SENATOR KUEHL:  I just have a few questions.


Dr. McNeel, forgive me for not using your title beforehand.  If it’s not written down, I don’t read it right.


You said that people were calling with questions about whether standards exist.  To your knowledge, do any exist in this state?


DR. McNEEL:  No, there are no standards for the occurrence of molds indoors, either in this state or any other state in the nation.  Barbara, correct me if I’m wrong, but that is also the case for most countries in the world.  The only one that I’m aware of that actually has stated in legislation that mold is a health problem and makes some attempt to deal with it is Finland; that approximately three to four years ago rewrote part of their Health and Housing Code to include mold in their definition of substandard housing and set aside the funds to appropriately train their housing inspectors, their occupational and health physicians, and a number of professionals who deal with that problem.


SENATOR KUEHL:  And did I also hear you say that there is an inability to measure mycotoxins?


DR. McNEEL:  That’s true.  There are methods to measure mycotoxins in research laboratory conditions.  So, there are mechanisms by way pieces of mold contaminated building material or other types of samples can be collected, and the mycotoxins, the occurrence of the mycotoxins, as well as their concentrations, can, in fact, be measured.  But, these are techniques that have been worked out, at this point, in research laboratory settings.  They are not available through commercial laboratories or available in a readily-available-to-the-public capacity.


SENATOR KUEHL:  I also have a question for you, Ms. Spark -- or is it Dr. Spark?  Okay, you can be Dr. Spark.


MS. SPARK:  That’s my dad.


SENATOR KUEHL:  I understand.  I’m a doctor of jurisprudence, but it doesn’t seem to get me the title.


Can you tell me a little bit about what EPA is doing to train local entities?


MS. SPARK:  Yes.  We, indeed, are proud of having been the major trainer of certainly government officials in this state in indoor air quality for a number of years.  We, at first, had a program called “Orientation to Indoor Air Quality,” and then went on to provide various, more advanced workshops, particularly on subjects relating to biological contamination.  These continued for many years.


We did most recently put on a training course called “Indoor Air Quality:  Asthma and Allergen Control,” which was very, very well attended.  Unfortunately, we have passed through that phase of our funding.  The Congress has its own ideas about how we should spend our money, and we don’t get to count people who get trained.  

So, at the moment, we can train schools to do certain things, but in terms of being a general purveyor of indoor air training, I’m afraid we’ve moved on to other activities.


SENATOR KUEHL:  So what would be the challenges that local governments would face if they wanted to help deal with this stuff?


MS. SPARK:  That’s why I said the Department of Health Services was so good at this stuff.  They know the answers.


I think that one of the wonderful things is that, in other states, if they attempted to tackle, for example, the issue of getting all the local health departments up to speed, there would be two things going on.  Many of them have attended our trainings, and even when there was a fee, we’ve frequently given them scholarships.  Sometimes, they just couldn’t even get out of their offices.  But, once they have that training, that’s not enough because it’s a matter of time and resources.  Even if they do not go into people’s homes, the sheer amount of time it takes to counsel each of the people who finds themselves in some of these predicaments is extremely extensive.


But here, whereas in other states, they might have to bring in outside contractors.  You already have the expertise within the Department of Health Services to conduct that training to a great extent.  You have Janet Macher at DHS who was actually on the ACGIH Bioaerosols Committee.  She was the chair of one of the national professional standard setting organizations.  So there’s a lot of talent here.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Okay, thanks very, very much to the panel, and I’d like to call up the next panel, if I may:  Dr. Eckardt Johanning, Dr. Abba Terr, Dr. James Craner, and the Honorable Elisabeth Krant.


Let me also say that normally we reserve the front row for legislators, but I don’t think any of them are going to come and sit in it.  So most especially the people who were speaking at the press conference this morning, I know you’re probably going to hang around for the whole hearing, and I don’t want you to have to stand up the whole time.  So please feel free to take seats.  Also, the entire gallery is empty.  It’s a great view.  You can hear everything up there.  It’s comfortable.  No one knows when you’re going in and out, if you need a quick escape.  There’s no reason for anybody to be standing, unless you want to stand by the door because you’d like to leave for lunch in two minutes, or whatever.  But please, grab a seat.  Don’t stand on ceremony, as it were.


I have three witnesses.  Now I have four witnesses.  Good.


All right, we’re trying to get at, in this second panel, the human health implications of these molds.  We’ve heard some description of the symptoms that real people have experienced and a little bit of the guess at the connections between these molds and these symptoms, and I think we want to flesh that out in this panel, if possible.


Let me ask you, again, do not simply read from a prepared written statement to us because we’re happy to incorporate your written statement in the record and don’t simply need to have it read but want you to hit the high points.  My job as traffic manager, to some extent, is to try to get us through with as much information in as little time consumed as possible in those two things.  

So we’ll start with you, Dr. Johanning, if you would introduce yourself, and within seven minutes if you can.  I will gently remind you.  Please give us your testimony.


DR. ECKARDT JOHANNING:  Thank you, Senator Kuehl.  Thank you for inviting me here to testify on my experience.  


I’m Dr. Johanning.  The one I represent, actually, or the people I represent, are my patients.  Currently, I’m not affiliated with an institution, but I’m on the faculty of the Mt. Sinai Medical Center.  I’m a practicing physician.  I’m in the interface between seeing patients, taking care of patients, but also someone who is involved in research.  I do family practice; I’m trained in family practice.  I’m trained and boarded as well in occupational environmental medicine.  


I trained at Mt. Sinai Medical Center, that some people may know because of their pioneering work in asbestos and lead hazards and the protection of the public and the workers.  That’s where I learned.  I worked with Dr. Selikoff, and I learned that you have to listen to your patients and open your eyes and open the ears.  You learn a lot.


Ten years ago I first got involved in seeing patients with mold problems.  At the time, I have to say, I went to my senior professors and teachers and all that and asked them, “What do you know about mold?  What do you know about Stachybotrys?” because that was reported by one expert as a problem.  I have to say these people didn’t know much about it or anything.


I went to the Allergy Immunology meetings that happened to be at the time in New York City and asked experts in allergy immunology, “What do you know about mold?”  What I learned was very frustrating and very little.  Nothing.  Way little in terms of allergy was known -- you should avoid mold -- but in terms of toxicity, no one knew anything about it and nothing about Stachybotrys.  

So I learned to go to other people, and out of that need and to learn and better understand the problems that my patients were reporting, I organized several conferences and brought the world experts on the topic from various areas:  veterinary people, mycologists, industrial hygienists, building experts, investigators, physicians, occupation environmental people.  And like I said, they came from all around the world.  And chemists.


I don’t want to get into detail on this, but we published proceedings of these meetings and papers.  And I’m very happy to see and have the opportunity today here to talk to you about my experience and seeing that a bill like this is now being discussed and introduced.  Of course, I do think it’s a public health issue.  There are many people out there, and I’m saying this based on my experience seeing patients, and have seen many patients also here from the State of California who have problems that could have been prevented, or at least improved if they were removed from the mold or the mold had not occurred, and they were diagnosed and treated by my colleagues.


There are too many physicians who still think it’s a problem that exists in some people’s head -- it’s hysterical -- and mold was all around for many decades or centuries.  Indeed, if you know the Bible and the other references to that, that for thousands of years it’s knowledge that you should not go and live in moldy homes.  So it’s nothing new.


What’s new in over the last ten years is that we understand a little bit better why it is a problem.  How can we quickly and best assess that?  Mold is not just a problem, as we heard of infections what we mostly learned in medical school.  The black box mold may cause some allergies.  Well, we know that mold can cause a serious type of infections, can cause irritative type problems, and can cause toxic reactions.  

I’m saying this based, again, as I said, on my own practical experience, and I have to say I’m doing house calls.  I’m doing environmental house calls.  With many of my patients I have the opportunity to go to their workplaces and their homes and see how they look.  What was the problem?  What occurred there?  And how much of what type of mold did they breath or touch or walk on?  So, I’m really speaking from my own experience.  


But also, what the previous speaker mentioned, there has been quite activity around in the world, in Scandinavia in particular, and Holland and Germany and England, researching these topics, and they all essentially come up with the same conclusion, saying:  Although we don’t know in some ways the exact mechanisms, we know that people can get sick or sicker, if they have preexisting problems, and they should avoid exposure.  In terms of toxic mold, allergenic type molds, clearly, we don’t now all of which molds cause what at what level.  So that’s probably a problem from a scientific point of view.  


I don’t want to get into detail.  I brought two documents that I will make part of the docket here.  One is the proceeding book of our last conference in Saratoga Springs, where we brought in many experts, people that were mentioned earlier here, from California who shared their experience and insight on this topic.  And it talks about diagnosis, assessment, prevention, and control.


Another important document, which I think should be reviewed and incorporated, is a publication “Environmental Health Perspectives, June 1999, Indoor Mold and Children’s Health.”  It’s based on a workshop organized by EPA and some other organizations addressing the issue of what’s the signs, what do we know about mold and children’s health.  

So these are two documents that I would like to refer to in terms of scientific basis.


But in terms of the toxicity, we know Stachybotrys is often mentioned here, but there are clearly other molds that are equally important.  But if you look at that, and that was my initial experience ten years ago when I saw a patient who had become very sick -- flu-like symptoms, just to mention a few of the symptoms in the presentation, that didn’t go away in spite of fluid treatment and other type of treatment by the doctor -- she had gall bladder attack type stomach pains.  She had feverish reactions.  She had skin rashes, extreme fatigue, and she has an ongoing problem that hasn’t resolved until now in terms of neural cognitive problems such as memory problems, depression, and fatigue.


I do think these type of problems probably are not the majority of cases that I see.  They’re very complicated, very complex, very difficult to diagnose, but they are there.  I have numerous other cases now that I would put in the category of toxic mold exposure, where we verified, using the tests that were mentioned before -- cutting edge, not generally available tests -- but looked at the properties of the mold, the chemistry of the mold, and the people exposed and their problem’s effect on white cells and other body immune function elements, and there was a clear connection there.  This has been observed by people in other countries with other legal systems, perhaps who don’t run as much to lawyers, and in Canada and other parts of this country.


In my document I listed some of the known, very potent toxins produced by Stachybotrys -- not always, not on every condition -- but many conditions where we have very sick building occupants, and they’re numerous.  They’re very potent in terms of affecting the basic alphabet of the human makeup:  the DNA, RNA, protein synthesis, complement inhibitors, and so on and so forth.  I don’t want to get into this in too much detail here.


In terms of children’s health, let me just summarize some statements here from the workshop.  Clearly, it was said that respiratory health problems, similar to the ones documented in Cleveland in terms of bleeding of the lungs, which are probably the tip of the iceberg, but in terms of asthma, sinusitis, allergic reaction, irritant reaction, and skin reactions, are things that should be recognized.


Further, it’s important that any physician needs to ask and inquire about moisture and mold problems.  In my own experience, we did an investigation, which we published in this document, a child where the mother observed.  I learned, working in the pediatric emergency room, listen to the mothers; they know what’s going on.  But the mother observed that the child got better once she moved the kid away from Spanish Harlem and a wet, moldy apartment.  Taking the kid back, she got sick again.  Expert looked at the kid, never asked about the home environment, and said, well, she had some immunologic problem, what else do you expect?


We could show with scientific methods and by removing her that she got better and is off most of the medication that she required for asthma control and other immunological problems.


Let me just close with some comments regarding remediation guidelines.  The New York Department of Health remediation guidelines are quoted often.  Ten years ago I was one of the people that actually initiated this.  Why?  Because we didn’t have the knowledge, we didn’t know how to do it, and people who were in the building came to us and said:  We are getting sick from people doing (quote/unquote) “cleanup” who weren’t qualified, didn’t know how to do this.  

Afterwards, we convened people coming from different professional backgrounds and asked them:  Give us your best estimate, your best knowledge, on how should we do it to avoid these types of problems.  And that’s what the basis is for these guidelines:  best judgment by people who are working in the field, people who work in laboratory and public health institutions.


Recently, there has been broadening of these guidelines in terms of including other molds and in terms of modifying some practical issues.  There are other guidelines available which I think you may want to look at -- they may not be here from the U.S. -- from Canada, the Canadian Housing and Mortgage Authority, and Scandinavia has come out with other detailed guidelines, which I would recommend that they somehow are incorporated in your document there.


Let me finish saying that I clearly do think protecting the public from unnecessary mold exposure is a very prudent public health measure.  I applaud and I do think it’s exemplatory for the rest of the nation, even the world, to do something like this.  In the name of the patients that I saw, and I’m still taking care of, I do think this will be a very helpful measure.


I’m available for any questions you may have later on.  Thank you.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you very much, Doctor, and we will incorporate your written comments into the record, as well as accepting the two publications that you brought.


Our next witness is Dr. Abba Terr, who will give us his testimony as well.  Please.


DR. ABBA TERR:  Thank you, Senator.  

My name is Abba Terr.  I’m a physician.  I practice in San Francisco.  My specialty is allergy and immunology.  I’m also on the faculty at the University of California, San Francisco School of Medicine, and then for 28 years was on the faculty at Stanford in my area of specialty.  In my practice and in the teaching that I do, the question of mold related disease comes up on an almost daily basis.

I’d like to start by saying that molds and yeasts are naturally occurring organisms that are known as fungi.  There are nearly 100,000 species of molds.  They inhabit the soil, vegetation, and a number of other substrates, and they produce spores that get into the air that we breathe.  We are breathing mold spores at this moment.  Molds are found over the entire planet, at least the land mass of the planet, except for the polar icecaps.  Fungi existed long before humans did, and they will probably exist long after we’re gone.


In terms of this hearing, I’d like to begin by saying that I find that water intrusion into homes that causes excessive mold growth is an intolerable situation that needs to be dealt with, and anything that the Legislature can do would be most helpful.  

I’m going to limit my remarks, however, to the human health effects of molds which occur in three categories:  infection, allergy, toxicity.  In each one of these categories there are diseases, and each one of the diseases is specific for a specific mold.  The question is:  Is there some adverse health effect to all molds in an environment?  And the answer is:  We don’t know of any at this point, regardless of the concentration of those molds in that environment.


Within each of these categories of disease, there are specific diseases that have objective findings:  physical findings, laboratory findings, tissue examination, objective findings.  These are not subject of diseases.


Briefly, mold infections can involve a particular organ of the body:  the lung, the skin, the mucous membranes, or they can be generalized.  They can occur environmentally in certain geographic areas, and I think that coccidiomycosis (Valley Fever) in this part of the state is certainly well known to you.  They can also occur, and frequently do today, in immunosuppressed patients:  either patients with AIDS or patients that are on drugs that are used to deliberately suppress the immune system to treat cancer and other diseases.


Mold allergy really falls into two categories.  There is the atopic allergy, which is expressed in a proportion of the population, a significant proportion, some of whom are allergic to molds, and most of the time that’s expressed as asthma.


We’ve heard some comments about mold allergy-causing asthma.  Let me say that the Institute of Medicine did not discover the problem a year ago.  Allergists have been treating mold allergy-causing asthma for at least 70 years.  The question about the increased prevalence of asthma in recent years, that’s a well-established fact, and I can tell you that the cause has been attributed to mold allergy, to mite allergy, to infections, to the lack of infection, to the lack of sanitation, to too much sanitation.  You mention it, there have been a number of theories as to why asthma is increasing, and we simply do not know.


There is a second form of allergy which is an extremely rare condition known as hypersensitivity pneumonitis, or allergic pneumonia, which occurs from certain specific molds and certain specific locations.  It usually is an occupational disease but not always.


Now, I think the real concern of this hearing is the question of toxic disease caused by molds, by inhalation of mold spores.  Human disease caused by inhalation of mold spores through toxicity is, at this time, is not a recognized medical condition, and I would like to expand on that statement.


Toxicity is defined by DOHS:  Any chemical is potentially toxic, potentially non-toxic.  It depends on the dose, and it depends on the root of exposure.  All microorganisms -- bacteria, fungi -- require chemicals in order to exist in nature.  These chemicals have certain properties which, under the right condition, can be toxic or non-toxic.


We are all in a state of coexistence with molds, so we breathe mold.  We touch it.  We ingest molds.  Recognized human disease caused by mold toxicity, which we call mycotoxicosis, in spite of this constant exposure to mold is indeed an extremely rare medical event.  There is clearly a public perception and a great concern today about what is known as toxic molds.


When I agreed to talk here a couple of weeks ago, I was not aware of pending legislation.  It occurred to me that there might be, so I called the staff yesterday and they very kindly sent me a copy of Senator Ortiz’ bill, which is entitled Toxic Mold Protection Act of 2001, and every one of the speakers so far has used the words “toxic mold.”


I would like to say that the terminology is important to me, and the term “toxic mold” really is not a medical term.  Molds produce chemicals which may or may not be toxic.  And it’s not the mold; it’s the potential chemical that could be toxic that we’re talking about.


I think the concern over the last few years centers largely around a particular mold, namely Stachybotrys, which you’ve already heard mentioned several times.  And I think this stems from the study that was done in Cleveland, Ohio, because in 1993 and 1994, a two-year period, there was a small epidemic of disease called idiopathic pulmonary hemosiderosis, which is bleeding in the lungs, that occurred in extremely small infants, 1 to 8 months of age.  There were 10 cases in two years; whereas, in that area, one case in ten years would have been expected.


A team of investigators from Case Western Reserve University Medical School and from the CDC investigated, and they concluded on the basis of their investigation, since these infants lived in a particular area of the city where there had been a great deal of flooding, where the homes were substandard, and there was a great deal of mold contamination in these homes, they concluded with a hypothesis that Stachybotrys and possibly other mold toxins caused, by inhalation, pulmonary hemorrhage in these infants with very immature lungs.


The CDC, which participated in this study, later was contacted by a number of physicians and scientists who reviewed these data with questions about it.  So they empanelled actually two expert panels, and in 1999, the report of these panels was that, in their words, there were serious shortcomings of the data of the Cleveland study, such that they felt that the hypothesis was not proven and that they did not consider other possible causes of those infants’ disease.


I would like to say for my part that this concept of pulmonary hemosiderosis in immature lungs caused by inhalation of Stachybotrys toxin is a plausible hypothesis, and I don’t think it’s been ruled out in those infants.


On the other hand, if you look at the medical literature over the last fifteen years, there are a number of other reports about presumed mold-caused human disease from Stachybotrys and other molds through a toxic mechanism.  These reports are generally buildings.  Some are courthouses, homes, other public buildings.  I’ve reviewed these reports very carefully, and they are less compelling -- I would say a great deal less compelling -- than even the human reports.


Generally, these are epidemiologic studies.  The clinical diagnosis of disease is made up by a questionnaire.  In many of the cases, the patients weren’t even examined.  There was no appropriate testing.  There were hypotheses that simply didn’t stand up to the data.


Now, having said that, I think that, as you can see from my comments, the question about the public health menace of molds in the home and in other buildings, while it’s of great concern today, simply does not stand up to much of what we know about disease caused by molds and what we know about the biology of molds.  


At the very least, I think any legislation, if it is going to affect construction or remediation of these buildings, has to make sure that it meets at least the minimum requirements of medical science.  Three factors, I think, are important.  One is to define the disease that you’re trying to prevent.  Second is to know what the epidemiology and extent of the disease is and how it relates to the public health.  And third, if there is such a health effect, what is the responsible mold, what’s the root of exposure, what’s the pathogenesis of the disease, and what are the dose response data?  There are clearly a lot of questions.


I want to close with a recommendation.  The legislation that’s pending here raises a lot of questions that are subject to research.  This research would obviously take many years and may or may not give you an answer.  At least we have some data now.  We have, in this state, eight medical schools and a school of public health.  This combined faculty has clinicians and scientists with internationally known reputation and expertise in the areas of the biology of molds and the health effects.  And I think that my suggestion is that this expertise be tapped by the Legislature in addition to the resources of the government to, at the very least, look at what is known currently about the published data on the health effects of molds, something akin to the National Academy of Sciences’ medicine reports.  I think that would be very helpful.


Thank you.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you very much, Doctor.


Our third witness on this panel is Dr. James Craner.


DR. JAMES CRANER:  Thank you.  I have a video presentation, and it came right up.  Good.  So the audience can see.


My name is James Craner.  I am a board certified physician in occupational and environmental medicine and also internal medicine.  I come to you today from Nevada.  I live 90 feet from the state border.  I enjoy all the tax-free benefits of living in Nevada, as well as, of course, all the benefits of skiing and recreation in California.


Actually, my practice is nationwide, although I’m based in Nevada, and I’m here to talk to you today not only in conjunction with these other individuals about what is known in the medical literature and science, but also my personal experience in this area.  I am a practicing physician, and as you can see, I hold two academic appointments.  But, my job is not to publish papers.  My job is to see patients and to evaluate problems, both from a clinical perspective -- that is, one patient at a time -- as well as from a public health perspective.


In the last now almost five years, I have conducted over 150 building investigations and site visits and have evaluated over a thousand people with the specific problem that we’re talking about here today.  A number of my comments are going to differ than some other people’s, and I will try to emphasize why that is; where there’s common ground and where there’s not.  


Altogether, including epidemiological investigations that I’ve done, I’ve seen over 3,000 people with this problem.  I have evaluated buildings and cases that have come everywhere from trailer homes and condominiums to tract homes and multimillion-dollar homes, commercial office buildings, government buildings, casinos, schools, and manufacturing facilities.  This problem is everywhere.  And I have served people and clients on all of the spectrum, and so, I am truly, I think, an independent person.  I don’t have a vested interest in this problem.  I don’t represent one industry or individual than another.


I have asked for a little bit of extended time, which you’ve been generous enough to offer anyway, because you can’t do justice to this topic in six minutes.  But I’ll try to be as brief as I can.  I’ve erred on the side of trying to be a bit comprehensive.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Unfortunately, it’s a different court, and I have not granted extension of time.  So do your very best.


DR. CRANER:  I will.  I just noticed that people are not going six minutes.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Well, that’s because I try to stop them at six-and-a-half.


DR. CRANER:  Well, I want to show you some photos because we’ve all been talking here but pictures are worth a thousand words.  These are all cases that involve people who have the illness that I’m going to describe later, and these are their actual problems.


This is a home in San Luis Obispo, built on muddy ground, as you can see.  The house was built, and as it was constructed, it continued to be muddy.  This home was contaminated with a significant amount of mold.  These were the silverfish that were found swimming in the carpet in this house because the foundation was so wet.  All of these people were unable to continue living in their house.  Children were chronically ill.  The parents were fatigued, having constant respiratory problems, and ultimately came to me and we discovered the problem.


This is a problem of construction defects in a condominium in which the windows were not flashed properly and mold is growing on the walls.  Here’s a picture of what the window looks like.  This is a six-month-old window that looks as if it’s about 15 years old.  This is from a simple construction defect of not putting proper flashing on a window.


This is a family that lives in Las Vegas, Nevada, in a very upscale home.  They’re very successful people who moved out of California to retire to Nevada, an upscale type community.  What happened is the day they moved in, the wife went and took a shower and water poured down into the kitchen.  This is what grew two days later and is now there four years later.  They are, unfortunately, in litigation against the individuals who sold them the house and did not disclose that there was a leaky shower.


This is a building in Laguna Beach.  It’s a home, also a very upscale home, that has significant roof drainage problems, and there is significant fungal contamination in the wall cavities, leading to illness among the occupants.


This is an example of a construction defect due to plumbing, a plumbing chase.  When the sheetrock was put up in this closet where all of the clothes and so forth were sitting in front of this area, the woman moved in and was ill shortly after she moved in.  Took about a year to figure this out.  As it turns out, nails were punched into the plumbing chase when the sheetrock was put in, and there was chronic leakage. 


This is the home of a very prominent public citizen in San Francisco.  This is a case of an exterior finished insulation system improperly installed.  There is mold growing in multimillion-dollar condominium units here.  You can see water tracking down the building.  It’s actually getting into these grooves and has no way to get out.


This is a building right in Verdi, Nevada, where the building was built before the roof was finished, and here is what it looks inside.  You can see all the snow runoff.  Here’s the insulation that went in before the roof was finished.  This is wet insulation going into a finished building.


Here’s an example of a simple landscaping problem.  Notice the slopage toward the house, and here is the result.  This is Stachybotrys growing here.  When air samples were done and dust samples in this home, the mold spores were found everywhere in the home.


This is another house in Laguna Beach, a very prominent citizen who became very ill and had severe aggravation of his asthma.  He had a history of water intrusion in his house.  This is his ceiling, and you don’t see very much.  When this was opened up, this is what is growing above his bedroom and getting in through the ventilation into his bedroom.  Sometimes construction defects are obvious and sometimes they’re not.  This is a destructive testing in which the builder left a very nice clue that I was the first one to find.


The problem, as Barbara Spark alluded to, is not just in residential settings.  This is a school not very far from here, and most of the teachers and students are chronically ill; again, with respiratory problems.  


Major office buildings.  This is one where -- and I’m going quickly -- ceiling tiles had dripping water from defective VAV valves in the ventilation system, and again, growing, in particular, Stachybotrys throughout the building.


Just to show you, this is what Stachybotrys looks like.  These are one micron in diameter, and by comparison, a piece of dust on the table, and this is a clean table, is about a hundred or more times larger.  These are invisible.  It’s important to recognize that.


Mold is ubiquitous, and these are a picture of my dogs outside of my house to tell you that mold is everywhere, but the problem molds are only a handful.  And the problem molds always show up when there’s water damage to organic, that is, carbon containing, building materials, in particular cellulose.


Which mold grows, where it grows, when it grows, depends on a number of factors that have to do with the environmental conditions and the material.  An acute water intrusion event, such as a flood, may produce different types of fungi than a chronic leak.


These are the materials that get wet, and in particular, a product known as sheetrock, or gypsum board, has a cardboard backing that is the ideal nutrient medium for the growth of certain types of fungi that are associated with these health problems.


Prior to the 1960s, these products were not in commercial use.  Buildings were made out of masonry, stone, plaster, and lath.  And sure, those buildings leaked, but the water did not leak onto materials that caused this problem.


Skipping things that have already been covered.  


What problems do occupants get in mold contaminated buildings?  Well, we’re hearing all about allergic diseases and infectious diseases, but the fact of the matter is that most people don’t have those problems.  Yes, they’re reported in the literature.  They’ve been reported for a long time.  But what people will complain of, and what you’ll hear -- and I have patients in the audience here who will tell you -- they complain of burning, itchy eyes, runny nose, nasal congestion, sore throat, raspy voice, cough, many of which are either self-diagnosed or misdiagnosed as allergic rhinitis, head colds, influenza.  All of those are self-limited conditions, for the most part; whereas, these symptoms occur day in and day out, going on months and years. 


A comment was made that there are no objective findings in this disorder.  I would tend to disagree.  They are difficult because there’s a lot of mechanisms we don’t know.


This is a woman who came to my Las Vegas office with sunglasses.  It is sunny in Las Vegas but not indoors, and this is what I saw when she took off her glasses.  She had stuck her head into a closet that was filled with black mold just before coming to my office to make sure it was still there, and this was her reaction about an hour later.


There are also respiratory symptoms, but basically it’s not clear if these are really in the lungs or whether these are in the upper respiratory tract.  That’s a key area of research that I am now involved in.


I would just corroborate very briefly that what I feel is the so much sensationalized case of the Cleveland babies and the bleeding lungs is not really representative of the problem that is out there, and I think that most of the emphasis has been focused on that problem.  I think it has detracted from the problems that most of the Californians here are describing.


People complain of profound fatigue, sometimes low-grade fevers, occasionally gastrointestinal complaints.  And most significantly, they complain of a very unique neurocognitive problem:  difficulty concentrating, short-term memory impairment, mood irritability and lability.  It’s analogous to a lot of other toxicological disorders that affect only certain parts of the brain.


Skin is also affected.  Just a couple more pictures.  Here’s an infant with this problem, with a severe sinus problem.  And, I would point out that it’s not only humans that are affected.  Animals are significantly affected, and I have involved veterinarians in a number of cases.


I’m going to wrap up here.  I had, of course, more than I wanted, but better safe than sorry.  But the epidemiology is limited but it is there.  Epidemiology is a branch of science that attempts to describe medical problems.  All diseases have been discovered through epidemiological investigation, and I would offer it at a much more comprehensive presentation to give you a lot of history, where some of the testimony that you’ve just recently heard is an attempt to say that because science doesn’t know every single little bit aspect of this problem, that we should, therefore, ignore it or deny it exists.  The epidemiology is growing and, clearly, it is important to recognize that, and I have had an opportunity to contribute to that.


Let me raise two other points, and then I’ll finish up.  One is that the question is:  Has any organized entity recognized this disorder?  It doesn’t have a name.  I’ve offered a name for it, which is in Dr. Johanning’s book.  But the American Industrial Hygiene Association made the following statement in its publication a couple of years ago on bioaerosols, which is that “Although biological contaminants have been given little attention until relatively recently, a substantial proportion of building related illness and sick building syndrome in the nonindustrial workplace is the result of exposure to such contaminants.”  And what the AIHA labels this as, in a somewhat unwieldy name, is “Building related illness arising from microbial contamination of building materials caused by condensation and leaks.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Not a handy acronym.


DR. CRANER:  No.


Let me finish up by saying that it is not clear at all that this has any allergic component or that it has any infectious component.  In my experience, taking care of people with this problem, including HIV-infected people and immunocompromised people, they don’t get the diseases that you keep hearing about.  I keep waiting for some clinical evidence or epidemiological to show up that proves these statements and I don’t find them.


Let me conclude with a couple of things.  One is there currently is no valid biological test for this disorder.  It makes a lot of this very difficult.  Many diseases don’t.  I would ask the audience:  How many people here have a migraine headache and had to have a blood test to prove that you have a migraine headache?  But clearly, that is something that is going to need to be done.


I’m sorry I’m moving so quickly.


Let me tell you lastly that the treatment of occupants is definitive.  The treatment is not medicines.  It’s not antibiotics, it’s not antifungals, it’s not allergy treatments.  It is removal of occupants from the building and ultimately proper remediation of the building, addressing water damage, and then properly cleaning up the mold.  I would point out that many people are seeing doctors for months and years who are never taking any environmental history.


Let me go to the last slide -- I’m really whipping through this -- and get to the issue of research agenda.  I think Dr. Terr made a number of good points, and I’ll just reiterate them.  A lot more research is needed.  A lot more attention is really needed.  And you hear this in medicine all the time:  more research is needed.  But the fact of the matter is, in order to address regulatory issues, we need better science.  I don’t think there’s any doubt.  We can prevent this problem without knowing all the answers.


And I would lastly state to you, in terms of regulation, that reasonable and cost-effective measures that can be done right now with what we have now include dealing with issues like building codes and construction defect laws, dealing with the duty and extent of a building owner to investigate water damage problems, and recognizing that there are scientific limitations.  And while everybody wants a quantitative limit of mold, it may be appropriate to regulate without that.


Thank you.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you, Doctor.


Our final witness on this panel, the Honorable Elisabeth Krant.


HONORABLE ELIZABETH KRANT:  Good morning.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Good morning.


JUDGE KRANT:  Thank you for having me here today.  I’d like to begin by stating that I am not here to endorse or oppose Senator Ortiz’ legislation, since I’m forbidden to do so by the Code of Judicial Conduct.  However, I am here today to express to you my personal experience with what has been happening in a mold related issue since approximately November of 1999.


I’m sure that you’ve now had handed to you some materials that show my picture.  I’m sorry that I didn’t provide you with a picture when I was at my worst, but I’m sure that the picture that you have, or the pictures that you have there, show how ill I really was.  


I’d also like to point out, the report that’s attached to that is the first indoor air quality investigation report that I know that was prepared by Tulare County.  I am a Superior Court judge in Tulare County, which is in the Central California area.  This report was prepared after I had been sick for quite some time, not knowing what was the cause of my illness.  Finally, when I was so ill and I stayed off work for approximately a week and came back to work, I was informed by my bailiff or my clerk that OSHA had been through the building, which made me believe that perhaps something in the building was making me ill.  


At that point in time I contacted the county executive officer and told him what was going on.  He knew that I’d been ill -- so did many other people -- with unexplained rashes and swelling and hair loss and a variety of other problems.  I had indicated that I was going to call OSHA back and ask that they could come investigate, and the CAO at the time had asked me not to do so to allow them to do the investigation.  Silly me, of course.  But in any event, it wouldn’t have made any difference because I know that OSHA wouldn’t have gotten involved in the situation.


If you’ll turn to the first mark, and I’m sorry I didn’t color code my own packet, but you’ll notice that the first page that’s marked for you -- I think it’s in either a yellow or orange color -- it shows on page 6, dated May 10th of 1999, after I’d been in the -- this was in my chambers that they located this contamination.  This was prepared, as I indicated, again, by the Tulare County building people.  They went and hired this independent group to come in and do this investigation.


You’ll note on this at Section 3.2 they discuss biological contaminants.  This entire report was prepared because of my complaint.  It’s approximately 49 pages long.  When you have an opportunity at your leisure to read through this, I’m sure you’ll find it very interesting because they specifically talk about all the different problems from being exposed to biological contaminants.  At the very bottom they talk about how they, in fact, acknowledge the symptoms reported by me fall within the range of symptoms from biological contamination.


If you turn to the next noted sheet, it shows you that what was located above my head, right above my chair and chambers, were approximately 22,424,000 to 22,490,000 CFU’s of Stachybotrys.  I understand that’s the highest reported finding in the State of California to date.  


If you check down now to the next tab mark, isn’t it interesting to note that those following approximately five pages, or four pages, at the very bottom the date of the analysis was April 6th of 1999, which was a part of the report, this 49-page report, were pulled from this report and provided to me in approximately May or June of 1999?  The rest of this report was kept from me until the rest of the court and judges confronted the county to give the rest of the report out.  Isn’t it interesting to note that Stachybotrys is not noted there as having been a finding?


So essentially what the county did was pull out these selected four pages and kept the rest of the report from me until February 10th of 2000.  By that time I was already at home, sick.


Turn to the next section, you’ll see all the other molds that were located in my chambers.  I’m not an expert, so I can’t tell you how they would normally affect me, although I do have some good ideas.  You’ll notice the next note:  “Diseases Caused by Aerosols.”  They actually had an attachment that had many pages, describing all the possible diseases I could be suffering from.  And the very last notation -- “Systemic Effects” -- which talks specifically about neurological symptoms.  


Now, in June of 1998, I’d finally risen to the place that I had hoped for for many years as a bench officer, and that was as the presiding judge of the Juvenile Court.  I had worked many years trying to achieve that particular assignment.  I can tell you that I would be sitting on the bench listening to lawyers argue child abuse cases and I could not follow what they were saying.  I would have to ask my reporter for transcripts so I could review them before making decisions.  I had to come back and have testimony redone.  I’d have to ask questions.  And after eighteen years in the dependency system, that’s not something that is normal.  It’s not normal to experience vertigo.  It’s not normal to lose much of your hair.  It is not normal to practically pass out.  It’s not normal to have so much swelling that pockets of fluid are hanging from your skin.  It’s not normal for you to feel that you’re stuttering and your court reporter tell you that you’re not stuttering.  It’s not normal for you to be driving and not be able to respond to your 13-year-old daughter while you’re driving.  Finally, I became so ill.  


Anyway, after these four pages were given to me, I was told that sensitive people could be allergic to mold.  That’s when the rumors began about me going through menopause.  That’s when the rumors began about a hysterical female.  And it was not until several other male judges began to complain of illnesses that that rumor was dispelled.  


I applied for worker’s compensation and was granted a worker’s compensation claim pretty quickly.  Another male judge also filed a worker’s compensation claim and was granted that claim.  However, several hundred courthouse employees -- now, my worker’s comp is state worker’s comp.  The courthouse employees were county worker’s comp.  Many of them were sent to a physician’s assistant and they were automatically, all of them, denied worker’s compensation.


The health effects certainly is a very important part of what you need to begin to consider, and I can’t tell you what to do.  I can tell you I got no assistance at the time from the state Department of Health or the county Department of Health or OSHA, because no one had guidelines to do anything about it.  It wouldn’t have made any difference if the county Department of Health was involved because they are hired and fired by the board of supervisors.


But what about the mental health effects?  What about what it’s done to me personally and emotionally?  To be one of sixteen judges, off work, near death, as described by the independent worker’s compensation doctor.  To be on the front page of the news.  To be told to take judicial disability retirement.  I don’t really believe that that’s something that I should have to do.  I have worked very hard to become a judge.  I am 47 years old.  I do not intend to allow courthouse conditions to ruin my career.


I’m sure that some of you may be familiar with the fact that court consolidation has now placed judges in the position of having to be employers, which means that judges of the superior court now have to deal with personnel issues.  I find it interesting now that we are receiving letters.  I received a letter indicating that, upon my return to work, I have now temporary assignments, trying to see how I’m feeling when I work.  I have not been provided a reasonable accommodation.  And these are judges who also claim they’re ill.  The court’s attorney is the Attorney General’s Office. 


Chief Justice Ron George has been very involved in studying the deplorable conditions at California county courthouses.  There is some thought that the responsibility of courthouses be transferred to the State of California.  I can’t imagine why the State of California would want to inherit courthouses across the state.  You may be aware that a courthouse in St. Martin, California was closed down by their board of supervisors in 1998 because of Stachybotrys contamination.  The entire courthouse was closed down.


So, I will say to you that it’s not just an issue of physical disability.  It’s an issue of emotional and mental disability, depression, and a fear of losing your career and everything you’ve worked for.  


Now, while all these doctors may not agree on what the long-term effects are, and while we can’t get state officials -- OSHA, the State Department of Health -- and county officials to do something, to help us, I assure you that all victims know that they have been made sick by this stuff, and something needs to be done.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you very much.


Senator Figueroa, do you have any questions to the witnesses?


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Yes.  Judge Krant, thank you for your testimony.  It’s always difficult when you talk so much about your own personal life.


JUDGE KRANT:  I’m sorry that I got a little emotional there.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  No, that’s okay.


JUDGE KRANT:  I try to maintain with my emotions.


SENATOR KUEHL:  We can handle it.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Don’t apologize for that.  That makes it very compelling, and that’s what Senator Kuehl was talking about before, about bringing in your own testimony, your own words, to the issue.


I had a question for you.  I see the report, the analysis prepared by Solutions Environmental & Health and Safety.  It’s the green tab, I believe.  I know yours is not green.


JUDGE KRANT:  Is that the second one?


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  I believe it is, yes.  But I notice the client name was the Tulare County Office Building Maintenance.


JUDGE KRANT:  Right.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  What did you have to go through to convince the county maintenance department to perform these analyses, or to get somebody to come in and actually do the investigation?  And I’m positive that, because you’re an honorable, you got a little additional attention.  I would learn a lot to know what you went through, and I could just begin to imagine what a regular court person, whatever “regular” is, would have to go through.


JUDGE KRANT:  Well, there’s two answers to that.  The first answer would be that it’s a sad commentary that, when I first started to find out what was wrong with me, I was told that maybe because I was a judge that credibility would be brought to this issue, and I find that to be a very sad state.


But, I can also tell you that I never meant to be a poster child.  I’m not out there trying to raise a flag.  I don’t give interviews and I don’t go on television.  I don’t do any of that.  But, the response that I got, surely, when I called and said I think I’ll call OSHA back here, the response that I got:  Don’t call OSHA, we’ll send somebody over, but the response that I got thereafter was the same treatment that anyone else would get, and that was:  Let’s not give her the information.


Now, I went all those months not having this report.  Don’t you think -- if you have a chance to read this -- if a doctor had this report, one of them may have been able to say, “Get out of the building?”  One of them may have said to me, “This is what’s wrong with you.”  Instead, I went to see an oncologist, because I’m a prior breast cancer victim from eleven years ago.  I saw three dermatologists, two gynecologists, two allergists, a pulmonary specialist, a cardiologist.  I saw a nephrologist.  They saw my symptoms.  They referred me to all of these doctors.  They could not tell me what was wrong.


So, the fact that I was a judge didn’t make much difference after all because they anticipated litigation, and that’s obviously why they chose not to release this report.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  What did it take for you to obtain the final, total report?


JUDGE KRANT:  Well, finally, they came in and cleaned up that chambers, but many reports after this show that it could be a countywide building problem.  And finally, I started to see that other people were complaining.  I didn’t know these people.  They’re on different floors.  They had the same rashes.  They had the same headaches.  Finally, it just took a matter of time when the complaints started to flood in, and when the complaints started to flood in, I finally just said to the presiding judge, “You have a duty to do something, to inform the rest of the building occupants that this has happened.  We cannot do that.”  Another judge had the same symptoms I had and I didn’t even know he was suffering from those symptoms.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Thank you.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you, Senator.  Thank the panel.  Obviously, we’d be tempted to stay here another six hours and try to reconcile the differences in testimony, which I think we would not accomplish after six hours.  So, thank you very much.


I wanted to ask you, Dr. Craner, if you could figure out some way that we might be able to incorporate your presentation or to have access to it.  You could e-mail it to us.


DR. CRANER:  I’m going to e-mail it.  I just haven’t had an opportunity.  I will e-mail it to Ana.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Okay, good.  That would be very helpful.


DR. CRANER:  I can’t e-mail the photos but all the text.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Text would be very helpful.  Also, I know that you were all amassing rebuttal testimony as each of you spoke in a way, and therefore, if there’s anything else you want the committee to have as information beyond your written testimony, if you’ve submitted it, or just a note, whatever, we’re happy to accept any further information.  I don’t imagine we will reconcile the science truly.  As legislators, I’m not sure we have to before we take action, if we’re just worried about something.


But I thank you.


DR. CRANER:  If I may, perhaps the best way to hear, some of my patients from California are here in the audience today.  And I think, then, although it’s anecdotal and it’s obviously their stories, I think hearing their stories will give you the flavor of the nature of the problem.


SENATOR KUEHL:  We’re happy to accept those as well.  Unfortunately, not enough time for oral presentations today, but if you would send that to us and the committee, it will also be incorporated.


Thank you very much, all.  


And our final panel, if you would please come forward.  Mr. Robertson, return to the table.  David Sonke.  And please forgive me, all, if I mispronounce your name, since I wasn’t prepared necessarily to chair today.  Bob Raymer, Ron Kingston, Diane Colborn, and Debra Carlton.  And trying still to get everybody to stay within my time constraints -- ha ha.


We’re looking in this final panel at the adequacy or inadequacy of current institutional responses as you see them from your various points of view.  


Return to you, Mr. Robertson, for the first presentation, and I will ask you, please, do your very best, since there are so many of us here, to stay at the six minutes, and we’ll see if we can get through.


Thank you so much.  Alex.


MR. ROBERTSON:  Thank you, Senator.  It’s always difficult to get a lawyer to limit words, but I think I’ll try to actually finish early.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Right.  But you’re used to having a judge tell you what to do, so I’m just going to pretend I am one today.


MR. ROBERTSON:  That’s fine, and I will accede to the chair.


A lot of what I could say, but the inadequacy of the response has already been voiced, I think, in the prior speakers, so I’m not going to repeat that, except to maybe focus on a couple of specific areas I’ve seen from my personal practice.  And that is, that absent standards that provide some uniform basis for enforcement, for interpretation and assessment, we’re going to continue to have inconsistent information at the local level being disseminated to the public.  Let me give you an example.


I had a 78-year-old woman contact me recently from the Los Angeles area.  She’d contacted the local health department.  Complained of a serious mold problem in the apartment complex.  Had serious respiratory and allergic reactions.  In that instance, the local health officer did, in fact, come out to her apartment to conduct an inspection.  However, that inspection consisted entirely of the health inspector walking through her unit and using his nose as the only investigative tool in smelling whether or not there was a mold problem, and after sniffing his way through the unit concluded there was no mold problem.


That’s very unfortunate because, following in examination about a month later by a certified industrial hygienist who did employ proper diagnostic tools, it was found that she had very high elevated airborne levels of Stachybotrys mold.  


So again, lack of education, lack of standardization, can result in giving wrong information, misleading information.  And as Judge Krant, I think, very eloquently pointed out, the real hazard here is delayed diagnosis and treatment and removal of the patient from a source of exposure if you don’t have consistent guidelines out there.


The State of California requires a barber to be licensed to practice; yet, currently, anyone can hold themselves out as a mold investigator, a mold abatement contractor, a (quote/unquote) “industrial hygienist,” and give information about whether a building is safe or not safe, move out, whether or not it’s toxic (quote/unquote) “mold” or not, and there’s no licensing or certification required.  It’s a voluntary level.  


The ACGIH, the American Conference of Governmental Industrial Hygienists, has an excellent certification process.  It requires a written examination, a certain required number of years experience, but that’s voluntary compliance.  And absent someone voluntarily submitting to that process and getting this voluntary certification, there is no licensing or certification requirement that’s required.


I think the first layer of defense are going to be the county health departments, the building inspectors, the Housing Code enforcement officers; and unless the Legislature gives them the tools necessary to get out in the field, to identify these problems, issue citations that will force the responsible parties to clean it up, you’re going to continue to see a flood of litigation happening.


For all of those reasons, I believe that this bill needs to be passed.  I’d be happy to answer any questions.


Thank you.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you very much.


Mr. Sonke?


MR. DAVID SONKE:  Good morning, Madam Chair, and members of the Legislature.  Thanks for having me today.  


I come to you from a company called Archstone Communities Trust, where I’m Vice President of Capital and Property Services for the West Region.  I have an office in Irvine, California.  And we are also a member of the California Apartment Association.


On behalf of my company and the responsible multifamily apartment owners in the industry, I’d like to just share a few of the challenges that we have in respect to the health of our residents.


Some of the issues that I’d like to bring to the table are mold prevention and awareness, building maintenance versus housekeeping, building codes, two-way disclosures with our residents, inspections, and the current processes that we do have.  


With mold prevention and awareness, our industry is always seeking new ways to prevent and bring awareness to our residents and our staff.  Quick response to complaints of mold and a prompt follow-up with solutions is our current standard.  Within those standards I’d like to recognize the New York Health Services Department, the EPA, and the California Health Services Department.  These are the documents that we currently have as guidelines of understanding and guidelines for remediation. 


I’m excited and commend the EPA, and Dr. McNeel, for taking the lead on preparing a remediation guideline at the federal level.  That will bring great benefit to our industry and our customers.


Awareness is the key for the residents’ health and safety here, as it relates to our industry, and the occupants of building owners all over.  I think that, as we’ve all heard, there are a lot of different views on mold and the effects of mold and how they grown and how we clean them and how we detect them, and an awareness that will be publicized with the EPA standards and the Department of Health Services will certainly help clarify that.


On building maintenance versus housekeeping, our industry consists of many different types of construction products, construction techniques, buildings and geographic locations.  We face the challenges with all building types, from commercial, public entity, schools, hospitality, and apartments, together.  I think it’s pretty clear that properly maintained buildings do not promote mold growth.  


As an industry of responsible building owners, it’s not in our best interests to have leaks inside of apartments that create mold growth.  So we certainly always look out for the best interests of our residents and their lifestyle to protect them as well as our people.


Additional precautions that we look for outside of protecting our assets and our people from leaky roofs, leaky windows, etc., we stop the leaks, we remediate any signs of mold at the first sign of it.  But additional things that the resident can do -- ventilation, awareness, identification -- because within the apartment industry, we don’t always get a chance to inspect the homes on a regular basis, and the residents hold that responsibility, if you will, to let us know.  And that’s the two-way disclosure that I mentioned earlier.


We want everybody to let us know that, if there are signs of water intrusion, signs of mold, we will be there to correct the issue.  Again, I mention it’s not in anybody’s best interest to allow that to happen, both for health reasons and for our asset.


Building codes.  With the standards of Title 24 came great benefits of indoor air temperature control.  With our energy crisis, that’s held to be a very important item within the building industry.  But along with that comes, again, some responsibility to introduce fresh air and ventilate the home.  It becomes increasingly difficult to do so in these climates of excessive rain, like we’ve had in Southern California and a little bit of cold in Southern California.  But that is probably one of the better things that we can do to help stabilize the mold spores that are naturally occurring, is allow air exchanges from inside and outside the home.


Periodic inspections are another method of prevention and awareness, as I discussed early.  We talk about educating our residents and our staff to be aware of the signs of mold and the potential causes that promote mold growth.


Currently, the process in the industry, as I mentioned earlier, we follow the EPA guidelines, the California Department of Health Services guidelines, and we refer to New York standards and Minnesota standards.


The method is investigating the complaint, looking for water intrusion, cleaning the affected areas, educating the residents on the prevention and health effects, and follow-up to ensure mold growth has subsided.  Of course, it’s more detailed than that, but that’s a pretty simple process.


In closing, our industry is generally made up of a responsible and respectable group of people, and that industry extends out beyond the apartment industry.  We offer services to enhance and protect our residents’ lifestyle, and that’s the nature of our business.  Unfortunately, some owners lack these qualities, and they also lack the means to protect the residents.  


We ask the committee to consider the good faith of the responsible owners and adopt laws that reasonably set standards and public awareness for the real estate industry.


Thank you.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you very much.


Mr. Raymer?


MR. BOB RAYMER:  Thank you.  Good morning, Madam Chair and Senators.  I’m Bob Raymer.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Good afternoon.


MR. RAYMER:  Yes.  Time already.


I’m Bob Raymer, Technical Director and Staff Engineer for the California Building Industry Association.  It is indeed a pleasure to be here today, and I would like to extend our thanks to Senator Ortiz for calling this hearing and inviting our industry to participate.


By way of introduction, in my capacity as technical director for CBIA, I represent the Homebuilders of California at both the state and the national level on a host of building code related issues, including those related to energy efficiency, fire safety, disabled accessibility, and earthquake protection.  The building industry fully supports your objective in determining an appropriate set of standards relating to molds in order to provide the local health agencies with accurate and reliable information so that they may appropriately respond to the public inquiries.


Now, as was mentioned this morning, industry has put together a task force that will be looking into this issue, with the leading purpose to fully examine the potential health issues, to better understand the causes of mold, and determine how best to prevent and protect the public.  Clearly, the ultimate goal is to provide health officials with the most accurate and scientifically sound information available.  But before we can pass on this information, we must pursue a probative and dispassionate, scientific investigation.


Now, in terms of my presentation today, I was asked to bring some insight and overview of California’s code adoption and implementation process and how it may impact parts of this issue.


In general, the California Building Standards Code uses as its base five national codes, covering the topics of building, plumbing, mechanical, electrical, and fire codes for residential, commercial, industrial, and governmental buildings.  There are over fifteen state agencies that have been granted the authority to amend these national codes during California’s annual code adoption process, which, by the way, is going on today and will continue on throughout the next six weeks.


In the development of the California Building Code over the past 30 years, state agencies have added over 1,000 pages of amendments to the adoption of the Uniform Building Code, the national code, effectively doubling the size of this code.  To give you an idea, here’s Volume 1 of the national building code, what we call the Uniform Building Code.  After the state agencies get done with it and conclude their adoption proceeding, this is what the first volume looks like after all of these agencies are done with their adoptions.  And in no way can they adopt anything that is less stringent than what you already found in this.  Keep in mind this is just the first volume.  There are six additional volumes to go along with this.


In addition to having the most stringent building codes in the United States, California also boasts one of the most extensive -- as a matter of fact, it does boast -- the most extensive set of code enforcement provisions for local and state agencies in the country.  There are over 500 local, city, and county jurisdictions in California, and they are all required by statute and by administrative law to inspect residential dwellings throughout the construction process and, once again, upon completion for compliance with all the state codes.


With regards to the residential construction process, the local building department starts out with an initial plan check review.  This is where they look at just simply the plans, and this is primarily where they do the first run of the energy conservation standards to assure that prior to the house even going under construction, that it meets all of the minimum specifications and guidelines set out in all these different codes.


To give you an idea of the inspection process at the local level, for example, let’s look at Sacramento County.  The County Building Department performs the following separate inspections during the construction process:  footing and foundation and plumbing inspections, concrete and pre-slab inspection, utility inspection, framing and insulation, lathe and gypsum board inspection, and most importantly, the final inspection where the testing of the plumbing systems, etc., takes place.


Due to time here, I’m not going to cover where we go beyond national code in such issues as fire safety, earthquake protection, and disabled accessibility.  But it was mentioned earlier on the energy regulations, right now the State of California has energy efficiency standards that exceed the national level by 15 percent, and due to the passage of AB 970 in the Energy Commission’s recent adoption last month, we’re going to add another 14 to 15 percent to that.  So, starting on June 1st of this year, California will now be 30 percent tighter than any state standard in the rest of the country.


So in one area of the code, we are -- it’s not just leaps and bounds -- we’ve lapped them.  In a mile race, we’re that far ahead.


Now, getting to the specific issue of ventilation, it was mentioned earlier that there’s cases of water intrusion from the exterior of the home.  Right now, I’d like to cover a topic that hasn’t been discussed today, and that is the development and accumulation of water on the inside of the house and how there are some things in the code right now that can help alleviate that but may not be properly utilized.


For many years the national and the state codes have incorporated provisions preventing indoor air in bathrooms, kitchens, laundry rooms of newly constructed residential dwellings.  While the consumer may be more apt to utilize the venting provided for control of odors, especially in the kitchen, in the bathroom -- in my situation, I use the venting in the kitchen for smoke control when I do the cooking, and my wife certainly enjoys that -- at least I try -- but a primary reason for venting is for the removal of moisture that is effectively created on the inside of the dwelling. 


You have to keep in mind that when utilizing the shower, the tub, particularly when you’re boiling water for spaghetti or whatnot, you are creating a tremendous amount of moisture on the inside of the dwelling, and that has to be removed.  Otherwise, it will adhere to the ceiling, the floor, the walls, the carpet, you name it.  And it can be a transport mechanism for bacterias, germs, colds, etc.


And so, this is something that the code already addresses and addresses quite well.  In terms of ventilation requirements, the California Building Standards Code requires natural ventilation by use of windows.  It also allows the opportunity to use mechanical ventilation if a window is not able to be put, say, on the inside of the dwelling where a bathroom may be covered by all four walls.


But clearly, the bathtub and shower within the bathroom is a significant, ongoing source of potential water vapor within a residential dwelling.  In the event the occupant does not utilize the natural or mechanical ventilation provided, there are only two places for this water to go.  It is important that the consumer understand that the intended use of these venting features were incorporated in the construction of their home, further venting primarily of this water vapor.


In conclusion, it is clear from the testimony that we’ve heard today that molds can and do occur anywhere.  CBA is concerned about the health of Californians, and as I indicted earlier, the building industry will be participating in the investigations to identify the best scientific information about molds and the related health concerns.  If mold is encountered in newly constructed homes, and the cause of the mold is directly related to either the construction materials and/or their assembly, the homebuilder should fix the problem.  


CBI has pledged to work with others on this issue, and we look forward to working with Senator Ortiz and the committee.


Thank you.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you, Mr. Raymer, very much.


Mr. Kingston.


MR. RON KINGSTON:  Thank you, Madam Chair and Ms. Figueroa.  I’m Ron Kingston, representing the California Association of Realtors.  I’d like to break my testimony apart a little bit and focus on some new issues.


Let me address single family home disclosures and remedies associated with material facts that affect the marketability and desirability of the property.


Well over fifteen years ago, the judicial system really articulated the requirement of all sellers and agents to reveal material facts affecting the desirability or marketability of the property.  And immediately following, the California Legislature, through the sponsorship of CAR, created a statutory forum requiring these disclosures, disclosures of all sorts, which includes environmental related problems.  Following that, in the early ’90s we successfully sponsored a bill to require the delivery of an environmental hazards booklet to be delivered to all purchasers of single family, one to four, properties, and we felt that that was imperative.  It addresses lead-based paint.  That’s kind of an inside joke between the chairman and I.  


SENATOR KUEHL:  It wasn’t particularly funny at the time, though.


MR. KINGSTON:  We can laugh at it now.


SENATOR KUEHL:  That’s true.


MR. KINGSTON:  But, the issue is, not only is the delivery of information generally about environmental hazards delivered, but also specifically, if you know it, you must disclose it in connection with the transfer of this type of property.


In addition, the California Association of Realtors’ purchase agreements require people to look at the need to conduct and hire inspectors prior to the transfer of property.  Pest control operators, it was referred to by one of previous witnesses that there was a leaky shower.  A pest control operator would normally pick that up because they would see that there is water intrusion.


Now, there are several other issues, one of which is we concur with many of the other witnesses that there is no redress for action because there are no public standards and guidelines.  We believe that is the very first thing that the Legislature should do.  Secondly, there was an observation there is no licensing or certification process.  We absolutely concur.  That is something that you must do, but you can’t do that before you define the standards, etc.


We canvassed a couple hundred of our realtors who are involved in property management that are landlords and we found kind of a really interesting set of statistics that started coming about.  First of all, in terms of insurance coverage, we asked our members, and those that responded, we asked them to find out if there is insurance coverage for the residential rental properties, and what we found is as follows:


For the landlord, there was hardly any insurance coverage for first or third party claims.


Second, where there was coverage, there was kind of a very strange development that started to occur, and that is, was their coverage concerning personal damage, real property damage, or health related?  We have the statistics and terms and a list of all the insurance companies and what was revealed to us, and we’ll provide that to the committee later on.


We also found that even the renters’ policies, which also are the same policy for condominium owners for inside their dwelling, did not address this issue as well.  And that’s something that the Legislature may want to look at.


And the final thing that we would like to address is that we also found that currently there’s no duty to report, by tenants, as to the immediate related problem.  And that not only extends to this issue but just about everything.  A landlord has an absolute duty under the applied warranty of habitability to fix the problem, no matter what it is.  If the tenant tells, “This is the problem,” the landlord has got to do that today.  It’s long, longstanding law.  


But it would be very interesting to really have that addressed and start providing this educational framework and also have some information start routinely being reported to the landlord, because it’s better to correct the problem today than several months from now.


Thank you.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you very much.


Ms. Colborn.


MS. DIANE COLBORN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I was going to say members of the committee, but it looks like you’re it at this point.


SENATOR KUEHL:  They may be listening on the squawk box.  We don’t know.


MS. COLBORN:  I’m Diane Colborn with the Personal Insurance Federation of California, and I was asked by the committee to speak to the issue of insurance coverage for mold damage, and I appreciate the opportunity to address the committee.


As other speakers have noted, this is an evolving area, both in terms of the law and of the science.  What I will try to do is provide a general overview and then respond to specific questions that you might have.


Although there are many variables, I will speak primarily to the homeowners’ insurance policies, since we’re the personal lines insurance federation.  Those are the lines that we deal primarily in, and I’ll touch upon a couple of other areas as well.  


It’s generally accurate to say that insurance companies pay to repair mold damage if it is the result of a covered loss under the insurance policy.  What has to happen is that a determination as to the cause and the origin of the mold has to be made to determine whether it is covered under the terms and conditions of the policy.  And the coverage or lack of coverage will depend on the specific circumstances.


In general, water damage which is the result of sudden accidental discharges, such as a burst pipe, or a sudden discharge from a plumbing, heating, or air conditioning system will be covered under the policy.  Whereas, water damage that results from continuous leakage or seepage over an extended period of time would not be.  The latter types of damage are more typically excluded under the category of maintenance exclusions.  Water damage resulting from a bursting water pipe that would be covered, if there was then resulting or ensuing mold damage that resulted because of that, that would be covered as well.


Another example of water damage that would be covered would be -- fire is something that’s covered under a homeowner’s insurance policy, and when the fire department comes in and saturates the house with water to suppress the fire, if there was mold that occurred as a result of that kind of damage, that would typically be covered under the policy as well.


There are standard exclusions contained in policies, as I said, that relate to continuous, repeat, or gradual leakage.  Some policies do include specific exclusions for mold or fungus or dry rot.  However, even where there’s a specific mold exclusion contained in the policy, it’s the general practice of insurers to pay for the mold damage, if it’s resulting from an otherwise covered loss.  Again, if it’s a sudden accidental intrusion of water versus the long-term, more maintenance leaks.


In addition to the property damage repair, a homeowner’s insurance policy may provide coverage for additional living expenses if it’s necessary for residents to be relocated during the remediation process.  There may be medical payments coverage for some health care costs incurred by visitors and guests of the property.


Finally, the liability portion of a homeowner’s insurance policy could provide coverage if, as a homeowner, you were sued by a third party alleging that you were negligent in the maintenance of your property and that resulted in harm.  And of course, that would depend on proving the tests and the negligence claim.


Molds which result from construction related problems, where it’s a continuous sort of seepage, while that may not be covered under the homeowner’s policy, there may be a claim that would apply under the general liability insurance coverage for the contractor or the builder.  Though, I would want to point out, too, that mold growth that appears to be related to construction design does not necessarily mean that there was construction defect.  For instance, building code requirements designed to improve energy efficiency might be a factor.  And then, as has been testified by others, there are ventilation systems in the codes that are intended to address those kind of problems.


Finally, I would also say that insurers do want policyholders to notify them immediately of water intrusion so that the source of the problem can be identified and mitigated before mold problems arise or are exacerbated.  Insurers will thoroughly investigate the claim relating to mold, make a coverage determination according to the facts of the claim and the policy provisions.  


We also agree, as numerous others have testified, that there are no state or federal standards, and there’s no currently recognized tests for measuring what the appropriate levels of mold are and exposure.  There’s a lot of things we don’t know.  And so we agree that more scientific studies are needed to determine what state or federal standards for mold exposure and remediation should be established.  We feel that whatever standards are developed should be based on sound scientific information and research.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Did you say that you thought the insureds should inform the insurance company?


MS. COLBORN:  The insured.  I was saying if a policyholder has water damage, it may be covered under the policy.  So if you informed the insurer as soon as possible, then they could determine if it is covered and start the remediation process before mold starts to develop.


SENATOR KUEHL:  But you also said that there are general exclusions.  So if I have a policy and it says, “This policy does not cover mold,” I don’t know how I would think, then, to call you.


MS. COLBORN:  Well, I guess what we would hope is that the minute you notice the water intrusion you would call before the mold starts developing.  Again, if the water intrusion is the result of a sudden accidental discharge, then the mold, even if there is a mold exclusion, is generally going to be covered.  But if it’s the result of a maintenance problem, a longstanding problem over some time, it’s probably not going to be.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you.


Finally, Ms. Carlton.


MS. DEBRA CARLTON:  Good afternoon, Madam Chair.  My name is Debra Carlton.  I represent the 50,000 members of the California Apartment Association, who operate approximately two million units throughout the State of California.  


I’ve been asked to provide a very brief overview of the challenges we face when moving forward with legislative and regulatory guidelines for mold.  And I do this in the context of the history that we faced on other indoor air quality issues such as lead and such as asbestos.  As I wiped down my shower this morning and as I passed the wet construction sites, I reflected on the daunting task that we have before us this year.


So first, let me give you the differences that I see that we face in comparison to mold and asbestos.  First, one of the biggest differences we face in tackling the issue of mold versus asbestos and lead is that mold is not finite.  We knew with the first two issues that identification, containment, mediation, and abatement would, if done correctly, rid the property of that hazard.  Mold, on the other hand, has the potential to reappear or amplify time and time again if a new situation or event precipitates it or if an environment is created for its growth.


Building types and tenant profiles are very different in this situation.  The most compelling difference in the mold challenge is the type of buildings that are affected.  With lead and asbestos, we could narrow the field of buildings to specific buildings constructed before a specific date.  With mold, all buildings can be impacted, whether it’s new, old, residential, commercial, and government buildings.


We also have a much more educated and affluent tenant population and homeowners involved in the mold challenge.  Even the rich and famous can find themselves facing a mold issue.  Ironically, with lead, we knew that children who were lead poisoned could face permanent brain damage and even death, and ironically, it was referred to as “the silent epidemic.”  But we’ve never faced and received the media attention with lead that we receive with the mold issue today.


As for the science, when all was said and done on the lead issue, there was much more general agreement on the data that we produced to substantiate the hazards from lead and asbestos.  With mold, there’s no real, I think, consensus, as we saw today, yet on the data that attempts to explain the range of the impacts of mold on our population.  In other words, there appears to be a gap between the health risks and the level at which mold is a hazard.  We do know that some people may have reactions and severe reactions at some levels that are yet undefined.  The impact can range dramatically, depending upon the individual and their tolerance to molds.


With lead and asbestos, we had a constant nonfluctuating target.  We could identify and remediate.  With mold, it may come to the building by one or a multitude of sources such as leaks, as we saw today in buildings, or in the office from the humidity or condensation inside the structure as a result of an airtight environment because the building has been built to existing construction codes.  Or alternatively, it may be introduced by residents through potted plants, wet clothes, failure to utilize indoor exhaust systems.


Over the years, as we have worked hard to make our environment more environmentally friendly or more organic, such as the elimination of toxic materials from our building materials, we have provided, I think, a comfortable environment for mold to flourish.  And as we have heard, mold is everywhere.  Unlike lead and asbestos, mold is a natural occurring phenomenon.  It’s everywhere in our environment, and only when it’s allowed to amplify or grow to yet an undefined level, which is hazardous to some individuals, do we have a problem.


Now, as for the similarities, just like lead and asbestos, we know that finding the mold and/or the cause of mold is much easier than determining the liability or the lack thereof.  We also know that environmental issues tend to pit long-term allies against each other, and it’s very hard to get many folks in the industry in lock step.


For example, in our communities today we know that lawsuits are being filed by tenants and homeowners against landlords, and lawsuits are being countered against builders who are, in turn, countering against tenants, builders, contractors, subcontractors, realtors, and even previous owners.  In some cases, insurance companies are covering these claims.  In some cases they’re not.  


I think, also, the biggest similarity here, especially for the rental housing industry, is the fact that well-educated property owners who have risk managers and who have the financial means to address potential environmental hazards will do so.  And in fact, most owners who have very large portfolios are already doing so.  The smaller owners, however, are always left behind on environmental issues.  They are the ones who face the insurance exclusions, and they are the ones who don’t have the resources to defend any type of legal claim against them.  If not regulated correctly, we anticipate banks can expect to receive these properties back through foreclosure.


In conclusion, just like lead and asbestos, any type of mold regulation must be carefully crafted to take into consideration the impacts it will have on our housing stock.  Unscientific, unreasonable standards will only create an empty building with tenants who have no place to go, especially in this tight market.


I thank you very much.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you very much.  I thank the panel very much.  If you have second thoughts or third thoughts, of course we’ll accept any written addenda.


I want to thank all the people who were here through the hearing as well.  I understand that a number of people who, themselves, have experienced trauma from mold related issues have come, and I wanted to ask you to stand up, if you want to at least let us know you were here.  I want to thank you for making that trip and coming to us.  There is no public testimony at this particular hearing, but as I indicated, we will accept any -- you know, we don’t care if it’s anecdotal.  I love stories.  The committee is happy to receive your story, your testimony, anything in writing.


Thank you very much.  The bill has not been set yet for a hearing, but of course, the chair of this committee is the author of the bill, and therefore, we feel quite confident that the bill will be set expeditiously for a hearing.  There will be a full hearing again on the bill itself, opportunity for testimony.


I thank the staff of the committee very much for all the work they did on the press conference and on this hearing.  This committee hearing will stand in adjournment.
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